# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT BRYANT, JR.,

Appellant,

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

v.

CASE NO. 75,317



ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR TAYLOR COUNTY, FLORIDA

# INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BARBARA M. LINTHICUM PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DAVID A. DAVIS
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
FOURTH FLOOR, NORTH
301 S. MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT FLA. BAR #271543

#

# PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Robert Bryant is the defendant in this capital case. References to the many volumes of the transcript will be indicated by the letter "R."

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An indictment filed in the circuit court for Taylor county on 18 May 1989 charged the appellant, Robert Bryant, with one count of first degree murder, robbery with a firearm, sexual battery with a firearm, burglary with a firearm, and possession of a firearm during the course of a felony (R 8-10). Subsequently, Bryant filed several motions relevant to this appeal:

Motion for appointment of expert witnesses (R 62-63). Granted (R 77).
 Motion to Suppress Statements (R 64-66) and Motion to Suppress Statements and Other Relief. Denied (R 1268).
 Bryant also requested the court sever all the charges (R 1195), which the court refused to do (R 1201).

Bryant proceeded to trial before the honorable Vernon Douglas. He was found guilty as charged of the first degree murder, sexual battery, and burglary, but he was found guilty of only attempted robbery (R 160-61). After the sentencing phase of the trial, the jury recommended death, and the court followed that opinion. In imposing a death sentence, the court found in aggravation:

- Bryant had a prior conviction for aggravated assault, a violent felony.
   The defendant committed the murder during the course of a sexual battery.
   The murder was committed to avoid or prevent lawful arrest or effect an escape from custody.
- 4. The murder was committed for pecuniary

lThe State, before trial, dropped the possession of a firearm charge (R 1199).

gain.
5. The murder was especially heinous,
atrocious, and cruel (R 317-18).

In mitigation the court found only that Bryant had a relatively low IQ but that did not affect his understanding of what he was doing. (R 318)

As to the other convictions, the court sentenced Bryant to life in prison for the sexual battery and burglary, and fifteen years for the attempted robbery (R 309-11). All the prison terms are to be served concurrently but consecutively to the death sentence. In addition, the court imposed the minimum mandatory three year prison sentence for using a firearm during the commission of the felonies for which he was convicted.

Bryant filed a motion for a new trial (R 287-291), which the court denied (R 1455). This timely appeal follows.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

By June 1988 Robert Bryant was 25 years old and mentally retarded (R 1380-81). His had not been a happy childhood, mainly because of his retardation and his father. He grew up in Taylor County, and the school system there early on recognized Bryant's emotional problems, and it placed him in their special programs for the emotionally handicapped (R 1350, 1360). He made little progress, and consequently had considerable difficulty in school (R 1351). At best he could read on a second or third grade level (R 1368), and he repeated the ninth grade three times before finally dropping out of school the fourth year (R 1362). When in a controlled environment he behaved well, but on his own he had trouble getting along with other students (R 1361).

The difficulty of the school work, however, was not the direct cause for Bryant's quitting school. When he was 16 or 17 his father deliberately shot him in the arm with a shotgun (R 1352). Throughout the boy's life, his father had abused him physically, and and when drunk he terrorized him and the rest of the family by threatening them with the guns he had (R 1323, 1352, 1382-83). Bryant spent several months in a hospital recovering from the wound, yet there was only so much the doctors could do (R 1324). For all practical purposes he had lost the use of his right arm (R 1384). It was, as the prosecution admitted, withered (R 1114).

The shooting was a major turning point for Bryant

(R 1363). Until then, he had been making slow, but steady progress in school (R 1368), and he planned, for example, to play football (R 1363). After the shooting, he just gave up (R 1363). A boy cannot do much with a withered arm, and Bryant had his additional emotional and mental handicaps to deal with. Consequently, at best he got only temporary jobs at a sawmill, but because he did not have a good arm, he was usually let go after a few days work (R 981).

The boy drifted on, and by June 1988, he would do occasional lawn mowing for his mother and neighbors in Perry, such as Annie Kennedy, to earn a little spending money (R 1000). The money he got he spent on drugs and alcohol, and by this time he had developed serious drug and alcohol problems (R 1381).

On June 3, he mowed Ms. Kennedy's lawn in the morning, which took about four hours to finish (R 1003). When he was through, Ms. Kennedy could not pay him then, but he came back some time later, and she gave him ten dollars (R 1006), which he used to buy liquor so could get drunk (R 1021).

Annie Kennedy was 67 years old and a rather small woman, being about five feet tall (R 488). She had known Bryant for several years and was friendly to him in a grandmotherly sort of way (R 999). He would do work for her, and on occasion just visit (R 994, 1001, 1019). He also ran her errands and bought her gin or cigarettes (R 995, 1004).

On the evening of June 3 Bryant got drunk. He was so drunk that when he stumbled home about 10:30 p.m. he fell into

his bed and immediately went to sleep (R 914-15). He had been asleep for a few minutes when he rolled off the bed. He did not wake up, and his mother and a friend picked him up and put him back (R 916). When he rolled off again, they left him on the floor (R 916).

The next morning Ms. Kennedy's body was discovered laying in the living room of her house (R 389). She had been beaten about the face and sexually battered, and the money from her welfare check taken (R 489, 491). She had been shot once and the bullet had entered the area above her left breast and exited behind her right shoulder (R 497). She had been dead several hours, and the best estimate was that she had been shot sometime around midnight (R 500). Police investigators found Bryant's fingerprints on a cigarette package lying between Ms. Kennedy's legs, blood stains matching Bryant's blood type, and a single hair in Ms. Kennedy's pubic area that had the same characteristics as Bryant's hair (R 674-73, 737-38, 821).

The police questioned Bryant several times about the murder during the next year, and twice he voluntarily gave them blood, saliva, and hair samples (R 588-90). He was finally arrested in May 1989, almost a year after the murder (R 3).

Bryant denied killing Mrs. Kennedy, and he presented two witnesses (and tried to present a third (R 324, 354)) that someone else had committed the murder and the other crimes (R 964-974).

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Bryant has raised 11 issues for this court to consider, 4 guilt and 7 sentencing issues.

Issue 1. During voir dire, an unusually large number of prospective jurors said they would automatically recommend a death sentence if they found the defendant guilty of murder. The court refused to excuse them for cause, which violated state law in that there was a reasonable doubt the challenged jurors could be impartial. It also violated constitutional law because their view would have substantially impaired their performance as jurors.

Issue 2. Bryant offered as a defense that someone other than him had committed the murder of Mrs. Kennedy. As part of his defense he wanted Clarence Mauge, a police investigator, to testify that a Mary Harris had told him that she had been in Kennedy's house at the time of the murder. The court refused to let him testify because Bryant had presented no corroborating evidence of her statement. The court erred because there was evidence to confirm sufficiently the truth of what she had said. Additionally, even if there was no such evidence, the court should have admitted this testimony. Requiring corroboration unfairly limits the jury from hearing all relevant evidence in a case in general and in this case specifically.

Issue 3. Bryant's trial occurred in late November, and the court recessed for four days during the Thanksgiving holiday. During that time, someone shot a bullet through one

of the juror's windows in her home. It became evident during the jury's subsequent deliberations on Bryant's guilt that this juror told others about what had happened. At least one juror was afraid for her and her family's safety. While the court questioned the two jurors about their ability to be fair, it refused to inquire of the rest of the jury about any bias or fear they might have had. That was error because any tampering with or pollution of the jury presumptively taints whatever verdict is reached. Without asking each individual juror about what effect the shooting incident may have had on them, the presumption of prejudice could not have been overcome.

Issue 4. The court found this murder to have been committed to eliminate a witness, but it reached this conclusion because that was the only result that it could think of that explained Mrs. Kennedy's death. The law, however, requires that there be positive evidence that the dominant motive for the murder was to avoid lawful arrest. This aggravating factor cannot be found by default.

Issue 5. Bryant presented several witnesses at the penalty phase of the trial who said Bryant had a severe emotional handicap as a child. Despite this evidence, and other evidence of his drug and alcohol abuse and physical abuse by his father, the court refused to instruct the jury that they could find as a mitigating factor that Bryant committed this murder while under the influence of an extreme mental or emotional disturbance. If the law requires only that he have presented "some" or "any" evidence to support giving an

instruction, the court should have given the standard instruction on this statutory mitigating factor.

Issue 6. The court found in mitigation only that Bryant had a low IQ. It ignored the wealth of other mitigating evidence Bryant had presented. To do so was error as this court's decision in <u>Campbell v. State</u>, Case No. 72,622 (Fla. June 14, 1990) clearly indicates. The court is required to consider, and in writing, evaluate all the mitigation a defendant offers. Failure to do so, renders the subsequent death sentence invalid.

Issue 7. When compared with other death cases in which the defendant's intelligence has been an important factor, this case is not a death case. Bryant's mental retardation permeates every aspect of his character, and his drug and alcohol addiction render this murder truly senseless. As such, Bryant lacked the moral culpability required to justify capital punishment in this case.

Issue 8. Because Bryant is mentally retarded it is cruel and unusual punishment under the state's constitution to execute him. Persons who are mentally retarded, as a class, lack the mental ability to have the additional moral culpability to be death worthy. Also, Florida has historically shown greater compassion in caring for the retarded defendant than it has the normal, accused person. Such history shows that Florida's evolving sense of decency now condemns executing the mentally retarded.

Issue 9. During the penalty phase the state improperly elicited testimony that Bryant was sane when he committed the murder, and it argued that sanity to rebut the mitigation Bryant had presented. To have allowed the state to do this was error because Bryant's sanity was an irrelevant issue during the penalty phase of the trial. Just as a defendant cannot argue any lingering doubt as to his guilt at the penalty phase, likewise the state cannot argue his sanity. Issues resolved by a guilty verdict cannot be relitigated in the penalty phase.

Issue 10. The state's case rested solely upon circumstantial evidence. Even though this court has omitted the standard instruction regarding how the jury should consider such evidence, the court in this case abused its discretion in not giving it.

Issue 11. During closing argument in the guilt phase of the trial, the state improperly asked the jury to find Bryant guilty because Clarence Mauge, the police investigator for this case, believed he was guilty when he arrested him. That improperly bolstered the state's case and should not have been permitted.

#### ARGUMENT

### ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING BRYANT'S CHALLENGE FOR CAUSE OF ELEVEN PROSPECTIVE JURORS WHO SAID THEY WOULD AUTOMATICALLY RECOMMEND A DEATH SENTENCE IF THEY FOUND BRYANT GUILTY OF PREMEDITATED FIRST DEGREE MURDER, WHICH ERRORS VIOLATED BRYANT'S SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS.

#### A. THE FACTS

During the voir dire, counsel for Bryant asked the jurors about their views regarding the death penalty. Counsel questioned prospective juror Padgett about his views:

MR. HARRISON [Defense Counsel]: Now, Mr. Padgett, I would like to ask you, since you indicated you pretty emphatically agree with the death penalty, do you have personal feelings as to when, under what circumstances the death penalty should be imposed?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR PADGETT: Yes, sir.

MR. HARRISON: In other words, there are certain crimes that you think the death penalty should be applied in, right?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR PADGETT: Yes, sir.

Mr. HARRISON: Okay. Now, what are your feelings in that regard?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR PADGETT: Well, there is, like self-defense or endanger of your life, or something, where you might kill someone. But where you have got premeditated murder, the person knows he is going to to out and kill someone, that is my opinion.

MR. HARRISON: In other words, if you found Robert Bryant guilty of premeditated murder, you would think that pretty much automatically that would deserve the death penalty, right?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR PADGETT: Yes, sir.

MR. HARRISON: Mr. Byrd, would you agree with Mr. Padgett?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR BYRD: No.

MR. HARRISON: Okay. Ms. Ratliff, would you agree with Mr. Padgett?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR RATLIFF: Uh-huh.

MR. HARRISON: You are saying yes?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR RATLIFF: Yes.

MR. HARRISON: Mr. Taylor, would you agree with Mr. Padgett?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR J. TAYLOR: I agree with what he said, yes.

MR. HARRISON: Mr. Thomley, how about you? Would you agree with Mr. Padgett?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR THOMLEY: (Nodding head.)

MR. HARRISON: In other words, if you come back with a first degree murder conviction, then automatically the death penalty would be appropriate in those cases, right?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR THOMLEY: Yes.

MR. HARRISON: Mr. Floyd, would you agree with Mr. Padgett?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR FLOYD: Yes.

MR. HARRISON: Mr. Kerley, would you agree with Mr. Padgett?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR KERLEY: Yes.

MR. HARRISON: Mr. Whitson, how about you, sir, would you agree with Mr. Padgett?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR WHITSON: Yes.

MR. HARRISON: And Mr. Dice, how about you? Would you agree?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR DICE: I agree, also.

MR. HARRISON: And Mr. Payne, would agree,

also?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR PAYNE: Yes, sir.

(R72-73)

The State, recognizing the problem, tried to rehabilitate these jurors:

MR. PHELPS: I want to ask some questions concerning, this surrounds the death penalty issue again and concerning jury instructions. Do all of you understand that just because a person is guilty of first degree murder, that the death penalty is not necessarily appropriate in every first degree murder, that the death penalty is not necessarily appropriate in every first degree murder case under the law? Do all of you understand that?

(No response.)

MR. PHELPS: And if the judge tells you in jury instructions that before, under the law, you can even impose or vote to impose the death penalty certain conditions must apply, that is, certain aggravating circumstances must exist, and further, he tells you that you must consider not only the aggravating circumstances but the mitigating circumstances, things that would speak in favor of the defendant, do each of you understand that you would be duty bound to consider each of those circumstances before voting either to impose the death penalty? Do all of you understand that?

(Whereupon, all prospective jurors indicated affirmatively.)

MR. PHELPS: Could all of you follow those instructions?

(Whereupon, all prospective jurors indicated affirmatively.)

(R 87-88).

Finally, counsel for Bryant asked them again if they would automatically impose a death sentence if they found Bryant guilty of first degree murder:

MR. HARRISON: Mr. Floyd, let me return to that last question that was asked by Mr. Phelps. Do you remember when I discussed things with Mr. Padgett, and I asked him under what circumstances he felt the death penalty was appropriate, and he said that premeditated murder would be an example where he felt that, I believe he said the death penalty automatically would be the appropriate thing. Is that your feeling still?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR FLOYD: Right.

MR. HARRISON: Okay. And Mr. Kerley, that was your feeling, too?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR KERLEY: Yes.

MR. HARRISON: That where a person commits first degree murder, automatically the death penalty would be appropriate in that case, rich?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR KERLEY: Yes. I think so.

MR. HARRISON: Mr. Whitson, do you still agree with Mr. Padgett?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR WHITSON: Yes.

MR. HARRISON: Mr. Dice, do you still agree with Mr. Padgett?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR DICE: I do.

MR. HARRISON: Mr. Payne?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR PAYNE: (Nodding head.)

MR. HARRISON: Mr. Thomley?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR THOMLEY: (Nodding head.)

MR. HARRISON: Mr. Taylor?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR J. TAYLOR: (Nodding head.)

MR. HARRISON: Ms. Ratliff?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR RATLIFF: (Nodding head.)

MR. HARRISON: And Mr. Byrd?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR BYRD: Would you repeat that, please.

MR. HARRISON: Well, do you feel that if this jury comes back and determines that Mr. Bryant is guilty of premeditated first degree murder, that the death penalty is appropriate and would be your recommendation in that case?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR BYRD: Yes, sir.

MR. HARRISON: You do?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR BYRD: (Nodding head.)

MR. HARRISON: Okay. Ms. Taylor, how about you? Do you agree with Mr. Padgett and Mr. Byrd?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR B. TAYLOR: Yes, sir.

Bryant challenged these eleven prospective jurors for cause because of their views on imposing death, but the court denied them because, "I don't think Mr. Harrison inquired far enough to explain to them their options under mitigating circumstances, and I don't, so I don't think the motion is well-founded." (R 96)<sup>2</sup>

Later, during voir prospective juror Whitson reiterated the position he had taken earlier:

PROSPECTIVE JUROR WHITSON: Okay. I will tell you, and then-- well, I believe in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The State later tried to rehabilitate Mr. Kerley and Mr. Payne, and they eventually served as jurors in this case, with Mr. Payne being the foreman (R 179-82, 1189-90).

death penalty for first degree murder that would not call for the death penalty because of the situation. . . . a person could be convicted of first degree murder, they premeditated this thing, but there is evidence there that says, if I didn't do this, then something was going to happen to me. And if that is what I am saying. I went out or anybody went out and intentionally murdered somebody, I believe in the death penalty instantly. I mean, I don't believe in hanging around with it.

MR. HARRISON: I understand.

PROSPECTIVE JUROR WHITSON: So there is my position on it.

(R 185).

That was Mr. Whitson's last statement, and immediately after, counsel challenged him for cause, but the court denied it (R 185). Bryant then excused him peremptorily (R 186). Later counsel exhausted all his peremptory challenges and asked for ten more (R 252-53). The court gave him one (R 256) which Bryant used and asked for ten more (R 298), but the court denied that request (R 299).

# B. THE LAW AND ITS APPLICATION TO THIS CASE

In <u>Singer v. State</u>, 109 So.2d 7 (Fla. 1959), this court articulated the state law standard to be applied when a prospective juror's competency to serve has been challenged:

[I]f there is a basis for any reasonable doubt as to any juror's possessing that state of mind which will enable him to render an impartial verdict based solely on the evidence submitted and the law announced at the trial, he should be excused on motion of a party, or the court on its own motion.

Id., at 23-23; accord, Moore v. State, 525 So.2d 870 (Fla.
1988); Hill v. State, 477 So.2d 553 (Fla. 1985).

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