FILED SID J. WHITE DEC 17 19901 CLERNK, SHAPPEME COURT By Deputy Cherk

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT BRYANT, JR.,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 75,317

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR TAYLOR COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

RICHARD B. MARTELL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 300179

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

###

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

Additionally, although the "burglary" aspect of this case has not been greatly emphasized, the State would contend that this murder bears similarity to those which occurred when the

defendant and victim were strangers to each other. See, e.g., Freeman v. State, 563 So.2d 73 (Fla. 1990) (defendant, who had prior record, murdered victim during burglary, and judge found in mitigation defendant's low intelligence and prior abuse by stepfather; death sentence proportional); Harvey v. State, 529 So.2d 1083 (Fla. 1988) (defendant murdered elderly couple during burglary, and sentencer found in mitigation defendant's low IQ and poor education and social skills; death penalty appropriate); Cherry v. State, 544 So.2d 184 (Fla. 1989) (victim beaten to death during burglary; at penalty phase, defense presented evidence that defendant's father had beaten him severely, defendant's mother had alcohol problem and defendant smoked marijuana daily prior to crimes; death proportionate); Johnston v. State, 497 So.2d 863 (Fla. 1986) (defendant murdered elderly victim and stole various items from her home; in mitigation, defendant presented evidence concerning his abuse by parents, history of mental disorder and taking of LSD on night of murder; death sentence proportionate). All of the above cases dictate that Robert Bryant's death sentence is appropriate. Although opposing counsel describes this murder as "impulsive", or as one which occurred when Bryant "struggled with the victim", or after he "blacked out" (Initial Brief at 48, 51), such allegations totally without support in the record, and, although opposing counsel, for understandable reasons, emphasizes the evidence capacity and alleged presented Bryant's mental as to intoxication, these matters cannot obscure the underlying fact that Robert Bryant's heinous crime merits the death penalty. The instant sentence of death should be affirmed in all respects.

- 80 -

### POINT VIII

# BRYANT'S POLICY ARGUMENT, CONCERNING EXECUTION OF THE MENTALLY RETARDED, IS NOT PROPERLY BEFORE THIS COURT

In his next point on appeal, Bryant contends that execution of the mentally retarded violates the Eighth Amendment, as well as the Florida Constitution. Bryant argues that to allow such would violate society's "evolving sense of decency". Bryant, quite obviously, includes himself among the mentally retarded for purposes of this point on appeal. Appellee would contend that this claim is not properly before this Court, and, further, that Bryant has failed to demonstrate any sufficient basis for vacation of his sentence of death.

Initially, the State would contend that this claim is procedurally barred, in that no claim of this nature was ever presented to the trial court below. While the facial validity of a statute can be raised for the first time on appeal, an issue concerning the constitutional application of a statute to a particular set of facts is a matter which must first be raised in the trial court. See Trushin v. State, 425 So.2d 1126, 1129-1130 (Fla. 1982). This Court has applied this principle in other capital cases, where the defendant has failed to present his constitutional challenges to the circuit court. See, e.g., Eutzy So.2d 755, 757 (Fla. 1984) (challenge to State, 458 v. constitutionality of jury override procedurally barred where raised for first time on appeal); Swafford v. State, 533 So.2d (Fla. 1988) (constitutional challenges to capital 270, 278 sentencing statute procedurally barred); Ventura v. State, 560

So.2d 217, 221 (Fla. 1990) (same). This Court has apparently rejected any contention that this claim is fundamental in nature. **Cf. Woods v. State,** 531 So.2d 79, 82 (Fla. 1988) (claim that Eighth Amendment precluded execution of mentally retarded procedurally barred when first raised on post-conviction motion). Accordingly, this claim is procedurally barred.

Assuming that this Court finds this claim preserved for review, the State would still maintain that this matter represents a policy argument which should be addressed to the Legislature, and not to this Court. This was one of the holdings of Penry v. Lynaugh, \_\_\_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_\_, 109 S.Ct. 2934, 106 L.Ed.2d 256 (1989). Further, as this Court noted in Carter v. State, 14 F.L.W. 525, 526 (Fla. October 19, 1989), the United States Supreme Court, in Penry, held that the Eighth Amendment did not, in fact, "categorically prohibit the execution of mentally retarded capital murderers." Appellant has failed to demonstrate why Carter does not control sub judice.

The State would also contend that Penry is an extremely In Penry, the United States Supreme Court instructive case. that violated the defendant's death sentence the found Constitution. Importantly, the Court did not reach this conclusion because Penry was mentally retarded. Id., 106 L.Ed.2d Rather, the Court concluded that the manner in which at 289. Texas conducted its capital sentencing proceedings had not allowed the jury to fully consider Penry's mental retardation in mitigation. Id. at 284. As this Court held in Porter v. Dugger, 559 So.2d 201, 203-204 (Fla. 1990), the Penry "problem" is not

- 82 -

likely to occur in Florida, given the fact, inter alia, that both the judge and jury can consider in mitigation all relevant evidence pertaining to the defendant's character or record or circumstances of the offense. As noted in Point V, supra, the jury in Bryant's case was specifically instructed that not only evidence relevant concerning Bryant's could they consider character or record or circumstances of the offense, but also, specifically, that they could consider any substantial impairment in his ability to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law in mitigation (R 1438). The State suggests that Florida's capital sentencing structure provides for adequate consideration of a defendant's mental retardation, such that the draconian "policy" suggested by Appellant is unnecessary. The State would rely upon this Court's decision in LeCroy v. State, 533 So.2d 750 (Fla. 1988), as persuasive authority. In such case, this Court was confronted with a comparable claim of error, that the Eighth Amendment, as well as Florida's constitution, precluded execution of one who had been a juvenile at the time of his offense. This Court found that such absolute rule was unnecessary, given the fact, inter alia, that Florida's death penalty system allowed for adequate consideration of the defendant's age in mitigation. Id. at 758. A similar conclusion is mandated sub judice, in that it is clear that the Legislature, in enacting §921.141(6)(f), defendant's mental capacity obviously intended that а be considered in mitigation where appropriate. In this case, Bryant's limitations were fully argued to the judge and jury in mitigation, and considered accordingly. No further action by this Court is required.

- 83 -

Finally, even if this Court should agree, as a general principle, that a policy "statement" on this subject is required, the State would respectfully suggest that Bryant's case does not present a compelling vehicle for such pronouncement. Bryant's own expert places him in the mildly mentally retarded range, and his IQ is, at least, within two to four points of the "cut off" line of seventy (R 1380).<sup>10</sup> This later result is, in any event, difficult to reconcile with the testimony of another defense witness, who stated that Bryant's IQ had been between 76 and 81 at a more relevant time, i.e., his formative years (R 1361), cf. Penry, 106 L.Ed.2d at 291-292 (". . . the mean scores on most intelligence tests cease to increase significantly with age.") Further, while Bryant's family and friends did testify that he had trouble reading and writing (R 1327), they also described him as leading a "fairly normal life" (R 1325); it should also be noted that Bryant was able to work various jobs and that family members and friends considered him trustworthy enough to babysit their children (R 909, 1323, 1325, 1331, 1337). In short, Bryant has failed to demonstrate the degree of impairment which would act to absolve him from the moral culpability of his offense. Carter (defendant's retardation so minimal as to render Cf.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> As noted earlier, see n.1, **supra**, Bryant's IQ would seem to be 68, not 66. Further, the test used has a "standard error of measurement" of 3, thus meaning that Bryant's IQ could in fact by over 70. Grossman, Classification of Mental Retardation (American Association on Mental Deficiency 1983), at p. 24. This text, cited by Appellant (Initial Brief at 52, et seq), also cautions that "any measurement is fallible." Id.

**Penry** issue irrelevant). No relief is warranted as to this procedurally barred claim.

## POINT IX

REVERSIBLE ERROR HAS NOT BEEN DEMONSTRATED, THE PROSECUTOR'S CROSS-IN REGARD TOEXAMINATION OF THE DEFENSE EXPERT. AND DISCUSSION THEREOF SUBSEQUENT INCLOSING ARGUMENT, ASSUMING, IN FACT, THAT ANY CLAIM OF ERROR IS PRESERVED FOR REVIEW

During the penalty phase, the defense called Dr. Mendelson, a psychologist, as an expert witness (R 1369-1407). On direct examination, defense counsel brought out the fact that Mendelson had been court-appointed, at the request of the defense, to examine Bryant (R 1372-1373). The doctor related that he had examined Bryant on two occasions and had administered a number of tests (R 1374-1378); the witness said that he had brought his report with him, and such was supplied to the prosecutor, for the first time, at trial (R 1374-1375). Defense counsel specifically asked the witness if the tests had been designed to determine whether Bryant "suffered from brain damage"; Mendelson stated that the test results did not indicate that Appellant had any organic brain damage (R 1378-1379). Similarly, defense counsel asked Mendelson whether he had tested Bryant to determine "whether or not he was competent to stand trial and to assist me in his defense"; the witness stated that he had found no evidence that Bryant was incompetent to stand trial (R 1379). Mendelson then detailed the test results which he had procured, and explained his conclusion that Bryant's capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law had been substantially mitigating circumstance under impaired, statutory а §921.141(6)(f) (R 1379-1389).

- 85 -

clarified that prosecutor On cross-examination, the Mendelson's appointment had not just involved examination for the presence of mitigating circumstances, but also such matters as competency and sanity (R 1389). The witness stated that, during his interview with Bryant, he had found that the defendant was oriented, that he was not suffering from any memory loss and that he was not mentally ill (R 1396-1397). Mendelson stated that one of the matters he had been asked to determine was Bryant's sanity at the time of the offense (R 1397); he further stated that he had insufficient evidence to make a decision, given the fact, inter alia, that Bryant had never admitted committing the murder The doctor acknowledged, however, that he felt that (R 1398). Bryant had understood the nature and consequences of his behavior and had probably known right from wrong at the time (R 1398-1399). On redirect, defense counsel explored this area, and Dr. Mendelson stated that he could not say that Bryant had been sane at the time of the offense either (R 1403-1406). In closing argument, the prosecutor briefly discussed Mendelson's testimony, to the effect that Bryant had understood the nature and consequences of his actions and had been able to tell right from wrong at the time of the murder, in support of his contention that the impaired capacity mitigating factor did not apply (R 1417 - 1418).

On appeal, Bryant contends that his sentence of death must be reversed because the issue of sanity was wrongfully introduced at the penalty phase; Appellant relies upon this Court's precedents, Mines v. State, 390 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1980), and

- 86 -

Ferguson v. State, 417 So.2d 631 (Fla. 1980), in support of his contention that the prosecutor's argument was improper. Bryant's initial problem is that this point on appeal is not preserved for review. Thus, there was no contemporaneous objection to the prosecutor's cross-examination of Dr. Mendelson, thus waiving the See, e.g., Farinas v. State, 15 F.L.W. S555, 556 (Fla. issue. 1990) (contemporaneous objection necessary to October 11. preserve issue involving State's allegedly improper impeachment of defense witness); Bertolotti v. State, 565 So.2d 1343, 1345 (Fla. 1990) (specific objection necessary to preserve claim for review); Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982) (issues not considered for first time on appeal, in absence of fundamental error). Similarly, there was no contemporaneous objection to the prosecutor's closing argument, thus waiving any claim for appeal. See, e.g., Rose v. State, 461 So.2d 84, 86 (Fla. 1984) (no "capital case exception" to requirement for contemporaneous objection in regard to prosecutorial argument); Davis v. State, 461 So.2d 67, 71 (Fla. 1984); Teffeteller v. State, 495 So.2d 744, 747 (Fla. 1986). Inasmuch as Bryant has cited no precedent to the effect that what occurred sub judice constitutes fundamental error, it is clear that this claim is procedurally barred.

To the extent that this Court wishes to address the matter, Bryant has failed to demonstrate any basis for relief. The State's questioning of Dr. Mendelson was clearly within the scope of permissible cross-examination. It is, of course, well recognized that when direct examination opens a general subject,

- 87 -

the cross-examination may go into any phase and may not be restricted to the specific facts developed on direct; this is particularly true when only a portion of an event or transaction has been put into evidence initially. See, e.g., Coco v. State, 62 So.2d 892, 894-895 (Fla. 1953); McCrae v. State, 395 So.2d 1145, 1152 (Fla. 1980); Steinhorst v. State, supra. On direct examination, Dr. Mendelson had testified that he had been court appointed to examine Bryant, and that among the things he had been asked to determine was Bryant's competence to stand trial, as well the potential application of mitigating circumstances (R 1379). Surely, this inquiry opened the door to examination as to all of the matters which Mendelson had investigated, and, accordingly, the State was entitled to question Mendelson as to his findings concerning Bryant's sanity. Cf. §90.705, Fla.Stat. (1987) (expert can be cross-examined as to the facts or data upon which he bases an opinion). Additionally, the State would note that this Court recently rejected an identical claim of error. See Lucas v. State, 568 So.2d 18, 21 (Fla. 1990) (not improper for prosecutor to argue that fact that defendant knew right from wrong meant that mitigating factor regarding impaired capacity did not apply).

It is, in any event, difficult to see how Bryant was prejudiced by the admission of this evidence; on redirect, defense counsel brought out the fact that, in Mendelson's opinion, Bryant may not have been sane at the time of the offense (R 1403-1406). In closing argument, the State was certainly entitled to argue that Bryant's ability to distinguish right from

- 88 -

wrong and his knowledge of the nature and consequences of his acts were factors which the jury could consider in determining whether or not substantial mitigation existed. The cases relied upon by Bryant, Mines and Ferguson, involved instances in which the sentencing judge misunderstood the standards applicable in regard to the statutory mental mitigating circumstances. Given the complete and proper instructions given the jury sub judice, see Point V, supra, such is not a concern in this case; any error would, in any event, be harmless under DiGuilio, supra. No relief is warranted as to this procedurally barred claim.

# POINT X

## REVERSIBLE ERROR HAS NOT BEEN DEMONSTRATED, IN REGARD TO THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF BRYANT'S REQUESTED JURY INSTRUCTION ON CIRCUMSTANTIAL EVIDENCE

During the charge conference at the trial, defense counsel requested that the court give a special jury instruction, based Brumbley v. State, upon 453 So.2d 381 (Fla. 1984), on circumstantial evidence (R 1083-1084); a copy of the case was submitted, apparently in lieu of a formal written request (P 171-178). Judge Douglas denied the request (R 1085-1086). On appeal, Bryant contends that such ruling constitutes reversible error. Appellant argues that the trial court seemed to have believed that it did not have the discretion to give this instruction, and maintains that the instruction was particularly necessary because this was, and is, a capital case. Finally, Bryant suggests that this is an extremely heated issue, with a "cacophony of legal wrangling", complete with "lawyers shouting" (Initial Brief at 70).

- 89 -

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